Case Nos. 85525 & 85656

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

UNITED HEALTHCARE INSURANCE COMPANY;
UNITED HEALTH CARE SERVICES, INC.; UMR, INC.;
SIERRA HEALTH AND LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
INC.; and HEALTH PLAN OF NEVADA, INC.,

Appellants,

vs.

FREMONT EMERGENCY SERVICES (MANDAVIA),
LTD.; TEAM PHYSICIANS OF NEVADA-MANDAVIA,
P.C.; and CRUM STEFANKO AND JONES, LTD.,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Apr 18 2023 11:09 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 85525

UNITED HEALTHCARE INSURANCE COMPANY;
UNITED HEALTH CARE SERVICES, INC.; UMR, INC.;
SIERRA HEALTH AND LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
INC.; and HEALTH PLAN OF NEVADA, INC.,

Petitioners,

vs.

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final judgment after a jury verdict and various post-judgment orders, including an award of attorneys' fees and costs. Judgment was entered on March 9, 2022. (53App.13,168.) On April 6, 2022, defendants timely moved for a new trial, renewed their motion for judgment as a matter of law, and requested remittitur and to alter or amend the judgment. The district court denied the motion for remittitur and to alter or amend the judgment on July 18, 2022. (71App.17,692.) It awarded fees and costs in separate orders on August 2, 2022, followed by an order awarding supplemental attorneys' fees on October 10, 2022. (71App.17,710-73; 73App.18,008.) The district court denied both the motion for a new trial and the renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law on October 12, 2022. (73App.18,019; 73App.18,090.) Defendants timely filed their notice of appeal on October 12, 2022. (73App.18,126.) This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1), NRAP 3A(b)(2), and NRAP 3A(b)(8).

This appeal also encompasses the rulings concerning the sealing of confidential documents addressed in the proceedings at Docket

85656, which this Court’s Order No. 23-9597 consolidated with the instant appeal for purposes of briefing and argument.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(9) because it is a case originating in business court. It also raises questions of statewide importance involving the Insurance Code’s Unfair Claims Practices Act, the Prompt Pay Act for health insurers and health plan administrators, the interpretation of the punitive damages cap statute, preemption pursuant to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), and the limits on punitive damages imposed by state statute and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether defendants are entitled to a new trial because the district court erred (a) in excluding evidence directly relevant to the central issue in dispute and (b) in giving the jury an unsupported and inflammatory spoliation instruction.

2. Whether defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law because plaintiffs failed to prove (a) the existence of an implied-in-

fact contract; (b) the elements of unjust enrichment; and (c) the elements required for recovery under the Unfair Claims Practices Act.

3. Whether the district court erred in awarding attorneys' fees and interest under the Prompt Pay Act because plaintiffs failed to prove the elements required for recovery under that Act.

4. Whether the \$60 million punitive damages award must be reversed as a matter of law or reduced to comply with federal and state limitations on such awards.

5. Whether plaintiffs' state-law causes of action are preempted by ERISA.

6. Whether the district court erred in refusing to seal defendants' confidential business and trade secret information.

INTRODUCTION

This case is a commercial dispute between two sophisticated business entities. Plaintiffs are three affiliates of one of the nation's largest healthcare provider staffing companies. Defendants are insurers or third-party administrators of employee health benefit plans. Plaintiffs alleged that clinicians they hired to staff emergency rooms in Nevada hospitals rendered emergency medicine services to patients who were members of health plans insured or administered by defendants. Plaintiffs contended that defendants' reimbursements were inadequate because even though they indisputably adhered to the requirements of the plans, the reimbursements violated a distinct legal obligation to pay plaintiffs the full amounts they unilaterally charged for the services. A jury only partially agreed, awarding plaintiffs just \$2.65 million of the over \$10 million in additional reimbursements they sought. But the jury then astonishingly awarded \$60 million in punitive damages, more than *23 times* the compensatory damages award, in a case that involves nothing more than a business disagreement.

That indefensible outcome is a result of litigation that went awry

from the start, due to the district court’s fundamental misunderstanding of the most important factual dispute in the case. Because plaintiffs here had no express contracts with defendants specifying the amounts owed, the entire case—including every cause of action plaintiffs asserted—turned on whether plaintiffs received “reasonable value” for the services at issue. And courts in similar cases have consistently identified various market- and cost-based factors relevant to determining reasonable value, including:

- amounts the plaintiffs have been paid by similarly-situated payors;
- amounts the defendants have allowed for payment to similarly-situated providers;
- the parties’ prior course of dealing; and
- the actual costs of the services rendered.

Breaking sharply with this uniform judicial consensus, the district court in this case declared all evidence concerning the foregoing factors to be *categorically irrelevant* to determining the reasonable value of the disputed services. In the court’s view, this case was analogous to a “bank collections case,” where a bank simply seeks to collect on a loan or other credit facility. According to the district court, plaintiffs sought

merely to collect their full billed charges for the services provided, and just as the borrower in a collection action would have no right to pursue evidence about other credit agreements, defendants here had no right to pursue evidence about other contracts and payments for the same services.

That analysis is obviously wrong. Unlike in a “bank collections case,” there is nothing here like a written credit agreement identifying the specific amount owed. Just the opposite: the whole dispute exists precisely because plaintiffs *lacked* such express agreements. In their absence, the dispute could be resolved only by fairly assessing the reasonable value of the disputed services through the factors enumerated above. But the court barred all inquiry into those factors. The court instead simply presumed that plaintiffs’ full billed charges were themselves equivalent to the amount owed under a written contract, thereby assuming away the issue most centrally in dispute and excluding evidence critical to its resolution. Jurors thus were denied evidence showing, for example, that plaintiffs had entered many other contracts (including with defendants) setting reimbursement for the same type of services at rates in the range of 200% of Medicare

rates or lower—rates far below the 763% of the Medicare rate that the collective full billed charges represented. As numerous appellate cases have held, such evidence is essential to determining the reasonable value of emergency medicine services. But jurors saw none of it.

In fact, the jury never should have been involved in the first place. The reimbursement issues here are properly adjudicated under the framework set forth in the federal statute that was enacted to ensure nationally uniform administration of private employee health benefit plans: ERISA. When a healthcare provider treats a member of an ERISA-governed plan, the provider can obtain an assignment of the patient's claim for plan benefits, and then assert a claim under ERISA for payment of those benefits. In this case and many like it, however, the plaintiff explicitly *disclaims* any effort to assert an assigned claim to recover plan benefits under ERISA. The plaintiffs instead seek payments *beyond* what the patient's plan would provide, on the theory that the plan's insurer or administrator has some "independent" duty under state law to pay providers more than the patient's own plan requires.

Defendants submit that ERISA provides the only legal framework

for resolving such disputes. But even if there were a truly “independent” state-law claim available in theory here, the proceedings below illustrate how *not* to fairly adjudicate such a claim and determine the reasonable value of the services rendered. The particular state-law causes of action that plaintiffs pleaded were legally defective from the start, and they should not have been tried before a jury that was prohibited from considering large swaths of evidence directly relevant to the most important issue in the case. The unfair trial proceeding in turn resulted in an inflated \$60 million punitive damages award. That award contravenes Nevada law barring *any* punitive damages in a case like this, as well as state and federal standards restricting the size of such awards, especially in cases involving only economic loss by a corporate entity with no physical or emotional harm of any kind.

Judgment should be entered for defendants. At a minimum, the case should be remanded for retrial on a viable legal claim (if the Court concludes any such claim exists) with a properly developed evidentiary record.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal following a jury trial presided over by the Honorable Nancy L. Allf.

The action stems from a disagreement about the payments that Team Health Holdings, Inc., and certain affiliates (collectively, “TeamHealth”) should receive in reimbursement from health benefit plans insured or administered by defendants UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company (“UHIC”), United HealthCare Services, Inc. (“UHCS”), UMR, Inc. (“UMR”), Sierra Health and Life Insurance Company, Inc. (“SHL”), and Health Plan of Nevada, Inc. (“HPN”) (referred to collectively as “United,” unless otherwise indicated). After TeamHealth and its private equity owners were unable to achieve the reimbursement rates they sought in negotiations for written contracts with United, TeamHealth terminated the existing contracts that one of the plaintiffs had with defendants and invoked litigation, hoping the courts would grant them payment rates they could not obtain at the bargaining table. In fact, TeamHealth sought much *more* from the courts than it had ever obtained through negotiations or even proposed in negotiations. According to TeamHealth, when there is no contract

governing the provision of emergency medicine services rendered to members of health benefit plans insured or administered by United, Nevada law requires United to pay TeamHealth's *full billed charges*, whatever they may be. TeamHealth applied that theory to challenge reimbursements it received from health benefit plans insured or administered by United for health benefit claims with dates of service between July 2017 and January 2020.

The case went to trial on four causes of action: (1) breach of implied-in-fact contract; (2) an alternative claim for unjust enrichment; (3) violations of the Unfair Claims Practices Act ("UCPA"); and (4) violations of the Prompt Pay Act ("PPA"). TeamHealth also sought punitive damages.

The jury found in favor of TeamHealth on each count, but it disagreed that TeamHealth's full billed charges constituted a reasonable value for the services. Rather than awarding the more than \$10 million in billed charges that TeamHealth sought, the jury awarded only \$2.65 million as additional compensation for the services. But the jury then awarded \$60 million in punitive damages, based on the UCPA and unjust enrichment counts. The district court then added a more

than \$800,000 special interest penalty under the PPA, for a total final judgment of \$63,429,873.96. The district court separately awarded TeamHealth more than \$12 million in attorneys' fees under the PPA and almost \$888,000 in costs.

Following trial, the district court denied United's motions for a new trial, for renewed judgment as a matter of law, for remittitur and to alter or amend the judgment, and to limit punitive damages. United timely appealed.

In addition to the forgoing rulings and issues, this appeal encompasses rulings concerning the sealing of confidential United documents, which are addressed in the proceedings at Docket No. 85656. The "Statement of the Case" pertinent to those issues is set forth in United's Petition for a Writ of Mandamus ("Mandamus Pet."), Docket No. 85656, at 7-23, incorporated herein by reference pursuant to this Court's Order No. 23-9597.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Parties and Their Course of Dealing

The named plaintiffs staff hospital emergency departments and are owned by TeamHealth. (21App.5,247–48; 20App.4,942, 4,945,

4,962, 4,968; 98App.24,320–23; 98App.24,337.) TeamHealth is a for-profit company that provides emergency department staffing and claim billing services in Nevada and elsewhere. (20App.4,944–47; 67App.16,517–19.) It is one of the largest physician staffing companies in the country and is fully owned by Blackstone Inc., one of the largest private equity firms in the world.¹ (98App.24,337).

The United defendants are insurers or third-party administrators (“TPAs”) of employer and union sponsored health benefit plans. (21App.5,248–49.) In these distinct roles, the United entities either issue insurance policies to employer/union-sponsored health benefit plans that pay benefits through those insurance policies, or they provide administrative services to “self-funded” or “self-insured” plans where

¹ See <https://www.blackstone.com/news/press/teamhealth-to-be-acquired-by-the-blackstone-group/> (Oct. 2005) (TeamHealth’s “management team . . . built [a] physician staffing company”); <https://www.teamhealth.com/news-and-resources/press-release/blackstone/> (Feb. 2017) (TeamHealth staffing services include “more than 20,000 affiliated physicians”).

benefits are paid by the plan sponsors themselves. (21App.5,248–49, 5,251; 36App.8,953; 39App.9,705–06; 119App.29,553.)

Two defendants, UHS and UMR, are solely TPAs for self-funded plans. (36App.8,853–54; 39App.9,704–07.) UHIC wears two hats: sometimes it is an insurer and other times it is only a TPA.

(36App.8,956.) A self-funded plan sponsor pays a fee to a TPA to build provider networks, maintain records, communicate with members, review claims, handle appeals, and so on, but the sponsor—not the TPA—is financially responsible for paying benefit claims incurred by plan members. (36App.8,959.) The sponsor-TPA relationship is governed by an administrative services agreement. (36App.8,961–63.) Private self-funded health benefit plans are exclusively governed by ERISA.

SHL, HPN, and sometimes UHIC, on the other hand, are insurers who issue fully insured plans that employers or unions provide to their employees or members. (40App.9,962–64.) In a fully insured plan, the sponsor pays premiums to the insurer, which both administers the plan and bears the financial risk for plan members' health benefit claims.

(36App.8,958–59.)²

The dispute at issue here arises when a patient who is a member of a health plan insured or administered by a United entity receives emergency medicine services at a facility staffed by TeamHealth. Emergency departments are obligated under both federal and state law to treat patients who seek care at their facilities, regardless of insurance status or ability to pay. *See* Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act (“EMTALA”), 42 U.S.C. § 1395dd; NRS 439B.410; 39App.9,675 (under EMTALA, “we have to provide rapid medical [services] prior to anybody asking for insurance information”). Because of the emergent nature of these services, neither the patient nor United had any ability to *choose* the clinician, TeamHealth-affiliated or otherwise, before services were provided. (44App.10,820–22.) Accordingly, unless United has a preexisting contract with TeamHealth providing for treatment of plan members, United has no legal relationship with TeamHealth; its obligations to TeamHealth—if any—

² Even for fully insured plans, plan sponsors are impacted by rising medical costs through increases in health insurance premiums.

instead must derive from its obligations to the plan member under the health plan's terms.

A contract for treatment of plan members is known as a “network contract” and healthcare providers who enter such agreements are known as “network” or “participating” providers. (36App.8,964–65.) A network agreement establishes the terms on which United or a self-funded plan will reimburse a participating provider for covered services. When a plan member receives treatment from a network provider, the member often owes little or nothing for the treatment up to a threshold amount, generally except for a small copayment. (See 36App.8,967.) This benefit structure thus incentivizes plan members to obtain treatment from network providers, who have already agreed upon treatment charges and have shown that they provide high quality care.

On the other hand, when a member receives treatment from a *non-network* provider—a provider with whom United has no network contract—the lack of a contract by definition means that United has *not* previously agreed on a payment rate for treatment and/or has doubts about the quality of care. United thus will only reimburse the member a specified amount for the treatment, with the reimbursement

methodology defined in different ways by different plans.

(32App.7,960–61; 36App.8,965–66; 39App.9,707.) The provider in that scenario has a contractual relationship only with the patient/member—the sole obligation of the self-funded plan or insurer is a contractual duty to its member to offset the member’s liability to the provider by reimbursing her the plan-prescribed benefit for non-network services. (32App.7,960–61; 39App.9,705–06.) But because the plan and insurer have no network contract with the provider, it is the patient who remains financially responsible for the services she received (unless a statute precludes billing the patient directly). (31App.7,641; 36App.8,965–67; 40App.9,887.)

TeamHealth plaintiff Fremont began terminating its network agreements with United in 2017. (106App.26,209.) TeamHealth, through Fremont, filed this lawsuit after the July 2017 contract was terminated. (1.App.1.) Eventually, TeamHealth named two more entities as plaintiffs and Fremont terminated its last remaining contract with United on February 25, 2019. (106App.26,206–07.) TeamHealth plaintiffs were then non-network providers with all of the United defendants. (31App.7,641.)

Accordingly, when patients of health plans insured or administered by United received treatment from July 1, 2017 to January 31, 2020³ at one of the facilities staffed by TeamHealth, United and TeamHealth had not agreed upon the amount that TeamHealth would accept as full satisfaction of its bills.

**B. The Parties' Dispute and
Subsequent Network Negotiations**

Before and after TeamHealth terminated plaintiff Fremont's network agreements, the parties engaged in extensive negotiations to enter new network agreements. (*See generally* 109App.27,100–110App.27,287 (Omnibus Offer of Proof).) The negotiations took place first in the Nevada market and later at the national level for all

³ Beginning January 1, 2020, Nevada's Surprise Billing Act defined the obligations between insurers and health care providers who rendered emergency medicine services in the state. That law created a comprehensive framework for resolving payment disputes between out-of-network providers of emergency medicine services and third-party payors like United. NRS 439B.160; NRS 439B.700 *et seq.* In particular, it establishes a mandatory and exclusive process for contesting reimbursement rates for certain categories of health benefit claims, which must consider network rates in the relevant geographic area. The act also makes reimbursement claims subject to binding arbitration. NRS 439B.754.

TeamHealth and United affiliates nationwide.

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