CASE NO. 85525; combined with CASE NO. 85656

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Aug 28 2023 11:47 AM

UNITED HEALTHCARE INSURANCE COMPANY; UNITED HEALTHCARE INSURANCE COMPANY; UNITED HEALTHCARE Court SERVICES, INC. D/B/A UNITEDHEALTHCARE; UMR, INC. D/B/A UNITED MEDICAL RESOURCES; SIERRA HEALTH AND LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, INC.; AND HEALTH PLAN OF NEVADA, INC.,

Appellants/Petitioners,

VS.

FREMONT EMERGENCY SERVICES (MANDAVIA), LTD.; TEAM PHYSICIANS OF NEVADA-MANDAVIA, P.C.; AND CRUM STEFANKO AND JONES, LTD., D/B/A RUBY CREST EMERGENCY MEDICINE.

Respondents/Real Parties in Interest.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. To prevail on a motion for a new trial, a party must show that irregularities in the trial materially affected its substantial rights. United has not come close to satisfying that exacting standard. The district court's exclusion of in-

network reimbursement data and Medicare reimbursement data were entirely appropriate in a case exclusively involving reimbursement claims that were out-of-network (*i.e.*, not in-network) and commercial (*i.e.*, not Medicare). Moreover, the district court's exclusion of cost data was appropriate, because cost data has no bearing on the question at issue here: the reasonable value of the medical services rendered. That value is determined by market prices, not the cost of providing the services. Finally, the district court's rebuttable persumption instruction was an appropriate, measured response to United's pattern of intentional misconduct and self-serving noncompliance throughout the discovery process. At a minimum, the district court did not abuse its discretion in entering the various discovery orders.

- II. United is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law on any of the claims asserted and proven at trial:
 - With respect to the implied-in-fact contract claim, United argues that there was no contract because the parties never agreed on a price term. That position fails because, under longstanding Nevada law, formation of a valid implied contract does not require agreement on a price term. Rather, where parties agree that one will perform services in exchange for payment from the other but fail to agree on price, *quantum meruit* serves as a gap-filler to require reimbursement at reasonable market rates. That is precisely what the Health

Care Providers sought in this case: reimbursement from United at reasonable market rates.

- With respect to the unjust enrichment claim, this Court has long held that the Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment is authoritative on questions of unjust enrichment in Nevada. Here, the Restatement is squarely on point, and it unambiguously provides that a medical provider who renders out-of-network care to an insured patient is entitled to reimbursement at reasonable rates from the patient's insurer.
- With respect to the Health Care Providers' claim under the UCPA, the text of that statute, its legislative history, contextual clues, and basic canons of statutory construction make clear that third-party medical providers may assert claims against their patients' insurers, and that TPAs of self-funded health plans are considered insurers. Moreover, the Health Care Providers presented substantial evidence to support every element of their UCPA claim.
- III. This Court should not overturn or reduce the jury's punitive damages award. The Health Care Providers presented an enormous volume of evidence demonstrating conduct by United that involved oppression, fraud, and malice. That conduct was in service of United's carefully considered, premeditated plot to enrich itself at the expense of emergency medical providers, by taking advantage of the providers' obligation to provide care to all presenting patients. As part of that plot,

United deliberately paid reimbursements at rates it knew to be substantially below reasonable value, while lying about how its rates were calculated, siphoning off money its self-funded health plan clients had earmarked for the payment of claims, and retaining those funds for itself. Moreover, the punitive damages award—while large in absolute terms—was a *de minimis* amount of money for United and does not infringe upon United's due process rights. Finally, the district court correctly held that an exception to the statutory punitive damages cap applies here.

- IV. The Court should not hold that the Health Care Providers' claims are preempted by ERISA. First, this Court already definitively resolved that issue when it denied United's writ petition seeking dismissal of the Health Care Providers' claims based on ERISA preemption. United has presented no reason for the Court to revisit that ruling. Moreover, that prior ruling was absolutely correct on the merits and fully in line with a broad judicial consensus that legal claims asserted by medical providers against TPAs of self-funded health plans challenging rates of reimbursement are not preempted by ERISA.
- V. The district court did not err in awarding attorneys' fees and interest to the Health Care Providers under the statutory PPA provisions governing health insurance. First, there is no inconsistency between Health Care Providers' arguments that their claims do not "relate to" ERISA plans and therefore are not preempted and also that the PPA applies. In the context of ERISA preemption, the

phrase "relate to" has a very specific, limited application that does not comport with common usage. Thus, a claim can relate to health plans for purposes of the PPA and still not be preempted by ERISA. Second, the text of the PPA indicates that the Legislature intended to create a private right of action under that statute. Third, United violated the PPA by withholding payment of portions of fully payable claims.

VI. Finally, the district court's order denying in part United's Motion to Seal was fully consistent with the strong public policy favoring open access to court records, and United has offered no meritorious reason for this Court to reverse that decision. In any event, United waived any potential right to have its materials sealed by failing to object at trial when those materials were introduced and discussed by counsel and witnesses in open court (in a public proceeding that was livestreamed over the internet).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's order denying a motion for new trial under an abuse of discretion standard. *Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 130 Nev. 67, 74, 319 P.3d 606, 611 (2014). In applying that standard, the Court "will give deference to the district court's factual findings and application of the [legal] standards to the facts." *Id.* The Court will not disturb the district court's decision "absent palpable abuse." *Nelson v. Heer*, 123 Nev. 217, 223, 163 P.3d 420, 424-25

(2007). A district court's denial of a motion for judgment as a matter of law is reviewed *de novo*. *Wyeth v. Rowatt*, 126 Nev. 446, 460, 244 P.3d 765, 775 (2010).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING UNITED'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL

United appeals the district court's denial of its motion for a new trial pursuant to NRCP 59(a)(1). (United Br.¹⁹ at 44.) That Rule provides that a district court may grant a new trial in response to certain enumerated "causes or grounds materially affecting the substantial rights of the moving party." To prevail on a motion under Rule 59(a)(1), the moving party must demonstrate: (1) that one of the "causes or grounds" applies,²⁰ and (2) that such cause or ground "materially affect[ed]" the moving party's "substantial rights." *See Pizarro-Ortega v. Cervantes-Lopez*, 133 Nev. 261, 266, 396 P.3d 783, 788 (2017) ("[E]ven when one of NRCP 59(a)'s newtrial grounds has been established, the established ground must have materially

¹⁹ Citations herein to "United Br." refer to United's Opening Brief in its appeal (Case No. 85525) dated April 18, 2023. Citations to "Pet'n" refer to United's mandamus petition (Case No. 85656) dated November 15, 2022.

The specific enumerated "causes or grounds" upon which United relies are: "irregularity in the proceedings . . . or any abuse of discretion by which either party was prevented from having a fair trial," NRCP 59(a)(1)(A), "excessive damages appearing to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice," NRCP 59(a)(1)(F), and "error in law occurring at the trial and objected to by the party making the motion," NRCP 59(a)(1)(G). (United Br. at 44-45.)

affected the substantial rights of the aggrieved party to warrant a new trial." (brackets and quotation marks omitted)). Given this standard and the record below, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying United's motion for a new trial.²¹

A. The District Court's Evidentiary Rulings Were Well Within Its Broad Discretion and Any Potential Error Was Harmless

United seeks a new trial based upon purportedly erroneous evidentiary rulings. (United Br. at 45.) One of the key disputed factual questions in this case is whether the rates that United paid to the Health Care Providers for out-of-network emergency medical services provided to its commercially insured members reflected the reasonable value of the services. (*See infra* Parts II.A, II.B.) United takes issue with a series of discovery orders—later converted into *limine* rulings—that precluded discovery and presentation of certain categories of evidence that United contends would have been probative on the issue of reasonable value. (United Br. at 54-55.) These categories include, *inter alia*, evidence showing non-analogous in-

_

United takes an unwarranted potshot at the district court, accusing it of having made "one-sided" discovery and evidentiary rulings. (United Br. at 25.) That is not fair, and it is not true. Rather, the district court went out of its way—expending considerable time and enormous effort—to issue rulings that were evenhanded and well-reasoned and to impose sensible guardrails on an otherwise unwieldy process. Its efforts were commendable and deserving of praise. To the extent the court's exclusions lend themselves to an appearance of one-sidedness, that is merely a reflection of how much irrelevant, prejudicial evidence United sought to introduce. In any event, numerous rulings went in favor of United and against the Health Care Providers. (*E.g.*, 33 AA 8154-65.)

network rates and Medicare rates, evidence of the parties' prior contracting history, and evidence of the Health Care Providers' costs to deliver emergency medical services. (United Br. at 54-55.) United contends it was denied a fair trial because, without this supposedly critical evidence, "[t]he jurors . . . were forced to assess reasonable value based mainly on the *least* probative indicator: [the Health Care Providers'] own billed charges themselves. . . ." (United Br. at 54 (emphasis in original).)

United's request for a new trial is unfounded. Even assuming arguendo that certain evidentiary rulings were incorrect (and they were not)—United cannot show that such errors materially affected its substantial rights, for several reasons. See *Gallardo-Recendez v. Ely*, No. 78077, 2020 WL 5888031, at *1 (Nev. Oct. 1, 2020) (unpublished disposition) (affirming denial of motion for new trial where Rule 59(a) ground warranting new trial was established but errors had not materially affected substantial rights of moving party). First, United mischaracterizes the trial record. Notwithstanding United's protestations, the jury was *not* forced to assess reasonable value based mainly on the Health Care Providers' billed charges. Rather, the record included substantial evidence of other rates paid and accepted in the relevant Nevada markets. Notably, this evidence included data showing rates for out-of-network commercial claims, i.e. the claims most comparable to the disputed claims at issue. (8 PA 1792:13-22, 1866:17-22, 1923:5-23; 13 RA 2397.)

Second, United's substantial rights were not materially affected because, while the Health Care Providers *argued* that their billed charges reflected the reasonable value of the disputed claims, the jury ultimately rejected that position. The Health Care Providers sought \$10.4 million in compensatory damages, reflecting the difference between their full billed charges and the amounts United had paid on the disputed claims. Despite that request, the jury awarded only \$2,650,512 in compensatory damages. Thus, even if the evidentiary submissions pertinent to the calculation of reasonable value had in fact been limited primarily to the Health Care Providers' billed charges (and they were not), any attendant error was harmless ²²

(37 AA 9003:14-

²² In any event, United talks out of both sides of its mouth when it complains that the Health Care Providers' billed charges are the "least probative indicator" of reasonable value. As detailed above, United for years earned substantial shared savings fees from its self-funded health plan clients, which it

^{19; 34} AA 8488:15-18.) If United were correct that billed charges do not bear upon reasonable value and that there is no obligation for a plan to pay billed charges for covered out-of-network services, then any purported "savings" were illusory. If that were true, then United has extracted enormous fees from its plan clients with no reasonable basis for doing so (possibly in violation of its fiduciary duties). See Hi-Lex Controls, Inc. v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Mich., 751 F.3d 740, 742 (6th Cir. 2014) (affirming trial court judgment that TPA of self-funded health plan had engaged in prohibited self-dealing and had violated fiduciary obligations to plan by "inflating hospital claims with hidden surcharges in order to retain additional administrative compensation").

The district court's denial of United's motion for a new trial should be affirmed for the additional reason that United cannot establish any of the grounds set forth in Rule 59(a)(1). The supposed trial errors that United has identified amount to nothing more than run-of-the-mill evidentiary rulings pertaining to relevance and probative value versus the potential to cause prejudice and/or jury confusion. Given the parameters of this dispute, the district court's evidentiary determinations were well-founded. At a minimum, they fall comfortably within that court's broad discretion over evidentiary matters and provide no basis for this Court to take the extraordinary step of ordering a new trial.²³ See LVMPD v. Yeghiazarian, 129 Nev. 760, 764-65, 312 P.3d 503, 507 (2013) ("We review a district court's decision to exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion. The district court's exercise of discretion will not be disturbed absent a showing of palpable abuse." (citations and quotation marks omitted)); M.C. Multi-Family Dev., L.L.C. v. Crestdale Assocs., Ltd., 124 Nev. 901, 913, 193 P.3d 536, 544 (2008) (same).

The specific evidentiary issues that serve as the basis for United's appeal are addressed in detail below.

_

²³ The district court's attention to focusing the evidentiary presentations upon relevant information was particularly apt given the trial's lengthy scope. Even with the court's *limine* rulings in place, the trial lasted for weeks. Had the districted court not precluded the introduction of irrelevant evidence, the trial easily could have lasted many additional weeks.

1. The district court's exclusion of in-network reimbursement amounts was not erroneous.

The district court excluded evidence of the Health Care Providers' contracted reimbursement rates with other insurers, *i.e.*, their in-network reimbursement amounts. United believes this ruling was erroneous and warrants a new trial. (United Br. at 58-60.) United is wrong.

The district court's exclusion of evidence regarding the Health Care Providers' in-network rates was well-founded. The disputed claims at issue in this case are exclusively out-of-network, and out-of-network claims are qualitatively different from in-network claims and command different market rates. That is because medical providers receive certain bundled benefits from insurers for being in-network. These benefits can include, *inter alia*, steerage of the insurers' members to the in-network providers, certainty of reimbursement amounts, prompt payment of claims, the availability of administrative appeals procedures etc. In exchange for these valuable benefits, in-network providers offer discounted rates to insurers. Conversely, where a provider is out-of-network and does not enjoy the in-network benefits, the in-network discount is unwarranted.

Numerous courts have recognized that this exchange—in-network benefits for discounted reimbursement rates—forms the basis of the "managed care bargain." For instance, the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit explained in *Geddes v. United Staffing Alliance Employee Medical Plan* that "interpreting a

customary charge in the medical market as synonymous with the discounted rate negotiated by a health plan with its preferred providers is a *significant deviation from industry custom*." 469 F.3d 919, 930 (10th Cir. 2006) (quotation marks omitted and emphasis added). Further:

[T]he in-network provider fee is by definition *not* the usual fee charged by physicians in any given market. The whole purpose of assembling a network of preferred health providers is to allow the insurer to cover its beneficiaries' expenses on a negotiated schedule *below the prevailing market rate*."

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